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54956.96. {(a) Nothing in this chapter szhall be construed to prevent
the legislative bedy of a jeoint powers agency formed pursuant to
Article 1 (commencing with Section €500) of Chapter %5 of Division 7
of Title 1, from adopting a policy or a bylaw or including in its
joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of
the following:

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local
agency member in a cloged session related to the information
presented to.the joint powers agency in closed session shall be
confidential. However, a member of the legislative body of a member
local agency may disclose information obtained in a closed session
that hag direct financial or .liability 1mpllcat;ons for that local
agency te the following individuals:

() Legal counsel of that. member local agency for purposes of
obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or
liability implications for that membér local agency .

{B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency
present in a closed session of that member local agency.

{2) Any designated alternate member of the legislative body of the
joint powers agency who is alsc a member of the legiglative body of
a local agency member and whe ig attending a properly noticed mesting
of the joint powers agency in lieu of a local agency member’®s
regularly appointed member to attend cloged sessions of the joint
powers agency.

(b} If the legislative body of & joint powers agency adopts a
policy or a bylaw or includes provisions in its joint powers
agreement pursuant to subdivision (a}, then the legiglative body of
the local agency member,'upon the advice of its legal counsel, may
conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take
action ceoncerning informatien obtained in a c¢losed session of ths
joint powers agency pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a}.

54957, (2) Neothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to
prevent the legislative body of a local agency from holding closed
sessions with the Attorney General, district attornay, agesncy
counsel, gheriff, or chief of police, or their respective deputies,
or a security consultant or a security operations manager, oOn matters
posing a threat to the gecurity of pubklic builldings, a threat to the
security of essential public services, including water, drinking
water, wastewater treatment, natural gas service, and electric
service, or a threat to the public's right of access to public
services or public facilities.

(b} (1) Subject to paragraph (2), nothing contained in this
chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local
agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or special
meeting to consider the app01ntment employment, evaluation of
performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear
complaints or charges brought against the employee by ancther person
or emplovee unless the employves requests a public session.

{2} As a condition to holding a closed session on specific
complaints or charges brought against an emplovee by another person
or emplovee, the employee shall be given written notice c¢f his or her
right to have the complaints or charges heard in an open session
rather than a closed session, which notice shall be delivered to the
employee personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time for.
holding the session, If notice is not given, any digciplinary or
other action taken by the legislative body against the employee based
on the specific complaints or charges in the closed session shall be
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nmill and void. :

{2} 7The legislative body alsc may exclude from the public or
elosed meeting, during the examinaticn of a witness, any or all other
witnesseg in the matter being investigated by the legislative body.

(4) Por the purposes of this subdivision; the term "employée“
ghall include an officer or an independent contractor who functions
as an officer or an employvee but shall not include any elected
official, member of a legislative body or other independent
contractors. Nothing in this subdivision shall limit local officials’
ability to hold closed session meetings pursuant to Sections 1461,
32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or ‘Sections 37606,and
37624.3 of thée Government Code. Closed sessions held pursuant to
this subdi¥ision shall not include discussion or action on proposed
compensation except for a reduction-of compersation that results from
the imposition of discipline.-

54957.1. (&) The legisliative body of any local agency shall
publicly report any action taken in c¢losed session and the vote or
abstention on that action of every member present, as follows:

(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations
pursuant to Section 54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is
final, as follows:

(A) If its own apprroval renders the agreement final, the body
shall report that approval and the substance of the agreement in open
gession at the public meeting during which the cloged session is
held.

{B) If final approval rests with the other party to the
negotiations, the local agency shall disclose the fact of that
approval and the substance of the agreement upon inguiry by any
pergon, as soon as the other party or its agent has informed the
local agency of its approval.

(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or
refrain from seeking appellate review or relief, or to enter as an
amicus curiae in any form of litigation as the result of a
consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be reported in open session
at the public meeting during which the closed session ig held. The
report shall identify, if known, the adverse party or parties and the
substance of the litigation. In the case of approval given to
initiate or intervene in an action, the announcement need not
identify the action, the defendants, or other particulars, but shall
specify that the directiom to initiate or intervene in an acticn has
been given and that the action, the defendants, and the other
particulars shall, once formally commenced, be disclosed to any
person upon inguiry, unless to do so would jeopardize the agency's
ability to effectuate service of process on one or more unserved
parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude
existing settlement negotiations to i1ts advantage.

{3} Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending
litigation, as defined in Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or
during a judicial or guasi-judicial proceeding shall be reported
after the gettlement ig final, as follows:

(&} If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by
the opposing party, the body shall report its acceptance and identify
the substance of the agreement in open sessgion at the public meeting
during which the closed session is held.

(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the
litigaticon or with the court, then as sgon as the settlement becomes
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final, and upon inguiry by any person, the local agency shall
disclose the fact of that approval, and identify the substance of the
agreement.

(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed sessicn
pursuant to Section 54956.95 ghall be reported as soon as reached in
a manner that identifies the name of she claimant, the name of the
local agency claimed against, the substance of the claim, and any
monetary amount approved for payment and agreed upon by the claimant.

(5) Acticn+taken to appoint, émploy, diemigg, accept the
resignation of, or otherwise affect the employment status of a public
employee in closed sessgion pursuant to Section 54957 shall be .
reported at the public meeting during which the closed session is
held. Any report required by this paragraph shall identify the title
of the posgition. The general requirement of this paragraph
notwithstanding, the report of a dismissal or of the nonrenewal cf an
employment contract shall be deferred until the first public meeting
following the exhaustion of administrative remedies, if any.

{6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiaticns with
represented employees pursuant to Section 54%57.6 shall be reported
after the agreement is final and has been accepted or ratified by the
other party. The report shall identify the item approved and the
other party or parties to the negotiation.

{7} Pension fund investment transaction decisions made pursuant to
Section 54556.81 shall be disclosed at the first open meeting of the
legislative boedy held after the earlier of the close of the
investment transaction or the transfer of pensicen fund assets for the .
investment transaction.

(b) Reports that are reguired to be made pursuant to this section
may be made orally or in writing. The legislative body shall provide
to any person who has submitted a written reguest to the legisiative
body within 24 hours of the posting of the agenda, or to any person
who has made a standing request for all documentation as part of a
request for notice of meetings pursuant to Section 549%54.1 or 54956,
if the requester is present at the time the closed session ends,
copieg of any contracts, settlement agreements, or other documents
that were finally approved or adopted in the closed sessgion. If the
action taken results in one or more substantive amendments to the
related documente reguiring retyping, the documents need not be
released until the retyping is completed during normal business
hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body or
his or her designee orally summarizes the substance of the
amendments for the benefit of the document reguester or any other

‘person present and reguesting the information.

{c) The documentation referred to in subdivision (b) shall be
available to any person on the next business day following the
meeting in which the action referred to ig taken or, in the case of
gubstantial amendments, when any necessary retyping is complete.

(d) Nothing in thig section shall be construed to require that the
legislative body approve acticns not otherwise subject to
legiglative body approval.

{e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other
personal interest may be commenced by or on behalf of any employee or
former employee with resgpect to whom a disclosure is made by a
legislative body in an effort teo comply with this section.

(£} This section is necessary to implement, and reasonably within
the scope of, paragraph (1) of gubdivision (b} of Section 3 of
Article I of the California Constitution.
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54957.2. (a) The legislative body of a local agency may, by
ordinance or resclution, designate a clerk or other officer or
employee of the local agency who shall then attend each closed
session of the legislative body and keep and enter in a minute bock a
record of topics discussed and decisions made at the meesting. The
minute book made pursuant to this section isg not a public record
subject to inspection pursuant to the California’ Public Records Act
(Chapter 3.5 {commencing with Section 6250} of Division 7 of Title
1}, and shall be kept confidential. The minuteé book shall be
available only to members of the legislative body or, if a violation
of this chapter is alleged te have ccourred at a clogsed sessien, to a
court of general jurisdiction wherein the local ageney-lies. Such
minute bock may, but need not, consist of a recording of the closed
session. '

{b} An elected legislative body of a local agency wmay reguire that
each legislative bedy all or a majority of whose members are
appcinted by or under the authority of the elected legislative body
keep a minute book as prescribed undexr subdivision (a).

54857.5. {a) Notwithstanding Section €255 or any other provisions
of law, agendas of public meetings and any other writings, when
distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of a
legislative body of a local agency by any person in connection with a
matter gubject to discussion or consideration at a public meeting of
the body, are disclosable public records under the California Public
Recordg Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250} of Division
7 of Title 1}, and shall be made avallable upon regquest without
delay. However, this section shall not include any writing exempt
from public disclosure under Section 6253.5, 6254, 6254.7, or

6254 .22 :

{b} Writings that are public records under subdivision (a} and
that are distributed during a public meeting shall be made avallable
for public inspection at the meeting if prepared by the lowal agency
or a member of its legiglative hody, or after the meeting if prepared
by some other person. These writings shall be made available in
appropriate alternative formats upon regquest by a person with a
disability, as regquired by Section 202 of the Americans with
Digsabilitieg Act of 1980 (42 U.S.C. 8ec. 12132), and the fedexral
rules and regulations adopted in implementation therecof.

(¢) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the
legiglative bedy of a local agency from charging a fee or deposit for
a copy of a public record pursuant to Section 6253, except that no
surcharge shall be imposed on persons with disabilities in vioclation
of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 {42
U.5.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in
implementation thereof,

(d) This section shall not be construed to limit or delay the
public's right to inspect or obtain a copy of any record reguired to
be disclosed under the requirements of the California Public Records
Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of
Title 1). Nothing in this chapter shall be construsd to reguire a
legislative body of a local agency to place any paid advertisement or
any other paid notice in any publication.
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54987.6. {a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a
legislative body of a local agency may hold c¢losed seggions with the
local agency's designated representatives regarding the salaries,
salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits
of its represented and unrepresented emplovees, and, for represented
employees, any other matter within the statutorily provided scope of
representation. '

However, pricr to the closed session, the legislative body of the
local agency shall hold an open and public-session in whmch 7t
identifies its designated representatives. .

Closed sessions of a legislative body of a local aaeqcy, as
-permitted in thig section, sghall be for the purpose of reviewing its
position and instructing the local adency's designated
representatives.

Closed sessions, ag permitted in this secticn, may take place
prior to and during consultations and discussions with
representatives of employee organizations and unrepresented
emplovees, :

Cloged sessions with the local agency's designated representative
regarding the salaries, galary schedules, or compensation paid in the
form cf fringe benefits may include discussion of an agency’'s
available funds and funding priorities, but only insofar as these
. discussions relate to providing instructions to the local agency's
designated representative.

Closed szessions held pursuant to this section shall not include
final action on the proposed compensation of one or more
unrepresented employees.

For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of
a local agency may also meet with a state conciliator who has
intervened in the proceedings.

(k) For the purposes of this section, the term "employee" shall
include an officer or an independent contractor who functicns as an
officer or an employee, but shall not include any elected official,
member of a legislative body, or other independent contractors.

54957.7, {a&) Pricr to heolding any cloged session, the legislative
body of the local agency shall disclose, in an open meeting, the item
or items to be discussed in the cloged session. The disclosure may
take the form of a reference to the ltem or items as they are listed
by number or letter on the agenda. In the closed session, the
legislative body may consider only those matters covered in its
statement. Nothing in this section shall reguire or authorize a
disclogure of information prohibited by state or federal law.

{b} After any closed gsesgion, the legislative body ghall reconvene
into open session prior to adjournment and shall make any
disclosures required by Section 54957.1 of action taken in the closed
session.

{c) The announcements reguired to be made in open session pursuant
to this section may be made at the location announced in the agenda
for the closed sesgsion, as long as the public is allowed to be
present at that location for the purpose of hearing the
announcements.

54%857.8. (a) For purpeses of this section, "multiiurisdictioconal law
enforcement agency” means a joint powers entity formed pursuant to
Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7
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of Title 1 that provides law enforcement servicess for the parties to
the joint powers agreement for the purpose of investigating criminal
activity involwving drugs; gangs; sex crimes; firearms trafficking or
felony possessicon of a firearm; high technology, computer, or
identity theft; human trafficking; or vehicle theft.

{b) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to
prevent the legisglative body of a multijurisdittional law enforcement
agency, or an advisory body of a multijurisdictional law enforcement
agency, from - -holding cloged sessions to discuss the case records of
any ongeing criminal 1nvest1gatlon of the multijurisdictional law
enforcement agency or of any party to the joint powers agresment, Lo
hear testimony from persons involved in the 1nvest1gatlon, and to
discuss courses of action in particular cases.

54957.%. In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by

a group or groups of persons so as to render the orderly conduct of
guch meeting unfeasible and order cannot be restored by the removal
of individuals who are willfully interrupting the meeting, the
members of the legislative body conducting the meeting may order the
meeting room cleared and continue in session. Only matters appearing
on the agenda may be considered in such a session. Representatives
of the press or other news media, except those pa¥ticipating in the
disturbance, shall be zllowed tco attend any session held pursuant to
thig secticon. Nothing in this section shall prchibit the legislative
body from establishing a procedure for readmitting an individual or
individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing the orderly
conduct ©of the meeting.

54957.10. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative
body of a local agency may hold closed sessions to discuss a local
agency employee's application for early withdrawal of funds in a
deferred compensation plan when the application is based on financial
hardship ariging from an unforeseeable emergency due to illness,
accident, casualty, or cther extracrdindry event, as specified in the
deferred compensaticn plan.

54958. The proﬁisions of this chapter sghall apply to the
legislative body of every local agency notwithstanding the
conflicting provisions of any other state law.

54959, Each member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of
that legislative body where action is taken in vioclation of any
provision of thig chapter, and where the wmember intends to deprive
the public of information to which the member knows or has reason to
know the public is entitled under this chapter, is guilty of a
migdemeanor .

5498560. (a) . The district attorney or any interested person may
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commernce an acticon by mandamus, injunction or declaratory relief for
the purpose of stoppilng or preventing violations or threatened
viclations of this chapter by members of the legislative body of a
local agency or to deteymine the applicability of this chapter to
actions or threatened future action of the legislative body, or to
determine whether any rule or action by the legislative body to
penalize or otherwise discourage the expression of one or more of its
members is valid or invalid under the laws of this state or ¢f the
United States, or to compel the legislative body to tape record its
cloged segsions as hereinafter provided.

{b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a

.violation of Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.9, 54956.92%, 54957, or
54957.6, order the legislative body to tape record its closed
sessions and preserve the tape recordings for the period and under
the terms of security and confidentiality the court deems
appropriate. '

{¢) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with
the date of the closed session recorded and the title of the clerk or
other officer who ghall-be custodian of the recording.

{2} The tapes shall be subiect to the following discovery
procedures: :

(&) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the tape is
sought by either the district attorney or the plaintiff in a civil
action pursuant to Section 54959, 543960, or 54960.1 alleging that a
violation of this chapter has occurred in a closed session which has
been recorded pursuant to this section, the party seeking discovery
or disclosure shall f£ile a written notice of motion with the
appropriate court with notice to the governmental agency which has
custedy and contrel of the tape recording. The notice shall be given
pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code of Civil
Procedure. '

(B} The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by
Section 1010 of the Code of Civil Procedure, all of the following:

{1} Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or
disclosure is sought, the party seeking discovery or disclosure, the
date and time of the meeting vecorded, and the governmental agency
which has custody and control of the recording.

{ii)} An affidavit which containsg specific facts indicating that a
vioilation of the act occurred in the closed session.

{3} If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that
there 1s good cause to believe that a viclation has occurred, the
court may review, in camera, the recording of that portion of the
closed session alleged to have vioclated the act.

(4) If, following the in camera review, the court concludes that
disclosure of a portion of the recording would be likely to
materially assist in the resolution of the litigation alleging
violation of this chapter, the court sghall, in its discretion, make a
certified transcript of the portion-of the recording a public
exhibit in the proceeding.

(5} Wothing in this section shall permit discovery of
communications which are protected by the attorney-client privilege.

54960.1. {a) The district attorney or any interested person may
commence an action by mandamus or injunction for the purpose of
obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken by a
legislative body of & local agency in violation of Section 54953,
54954.2, 54%54.5, 545B54.6, 54956, or 549256.5 is null and void under
this secticon. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent
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a legisglative body from curing or correcting an action challenged
pursuant to this section.

{b) Prior to any action being commenced pursuant to subdivision
{a}, the district attorney or interested perscon shall make a demand
of the legislative body to cure or coxrect the action alleged to have
been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 54%84.¢,
54856, or 54956.5. The demand shall be in writing and clearly
describe the challenged action of the legislative body and nature of
the alleged viclation.

{}) (1) The written demand ghall be made within 90 days from the
date the acticon wag taken unless the acticn was taken in an cpen
session but in violation of Section 54954.2, in which case the
written demand shall be made within 30 days from the date the acticn
was taken.

{2} Within 390 days of receipt of the demand, the legislative body
shall cure or correct the challenged action and inform the demanding
party in writing of its actionsg to cure or correct or inform the
demanding party in writing of its decision not to cure or correct the
challenged action.

{3) If the legislative body takes no action within the 30-day
period, the inaction shall be deemed a decision not to cure or
correct the challenged action, and the 15-day period to commence the
action described in subdivision {(a) shall commence to run the day
after the 30-day period to cure or correct expires.

(4) Within 15 days of receipt of the written notice of the
legiglative body's decisicen to cure or correct, or not to cure or
correct, or within 15 days of the expiration of the 30-day pericd to
cure cor correct, whichever is earlier, the demanding party shall be
reguired to commence the action pursuant to subdivision {a) ox
thereafter be barred from commencing the action.

{d) -An action taken that is alleged to have been taken in
violation of Section 54953, 549%4.2, 54954.5, 549E84.6, 54956, or
54956.5 shall not be determined te be null and void if any of the
following conditions exist:

{1) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections
54953, 54954.2, 54954.5%, 54934.6, 54956, and 54956.5.

(2) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance
of notes, bondsg, or other evidences of indebtedness or any conbract
instrument, or agreenment thereto.

{2} The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation,
including a contract let by competitive bid other than coupensation
for services in the form of salary or fees for professional services,
upon which a party hag, in good faith and without notice ¢f a
challenge to the validity of the action, detrimentally relied.

(4} The action taken was in connection w1th the ceollection of any
tax.

(5} Any person, city, city and county, county, disgtrict, ox any
agency or subdivision of the state alleging noncompliance with
subdivision (a) of Section 549%54.2, Section 54956, or Section
54956.5, because of any defect, error, irregularity, or ounission in
the notice given pursuant to those provisions, had actual notice of
the item of kbusiness at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at which
the action was taken, if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Section
549854 .2, or 24 hours prior to the meeting at which the action was
taken if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Secticn 54956, or prior
to the meeting at which the action was taken if the meeting is held
pursuant to Section 54956.5.

(e} During any action seeking a judicial determination pursuant to
subdivigion (a) 1f the court determines, pursuant to a showing by
the legislative body that an action alleged to have been taken in
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violation of Sectilon 54953, 54954.2, 54954 .5, 54954.5, 54956, or
54956.5 has been cured or corrected by a subseqguent action of the
legislative body, the action filed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall
be dismissed with prejudice.

{£) The faet-that a legislative body takes a subseguent action to
cure or correct an action taken pursuant to this section shall not be
construed or admissible as evidence of a vicolation of thie chapter.

54960.5. .A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees
to the plaintiff in an action brought pursuant to Sectlon 54960 or
54960.1 where it is found that a legislative body cf the local agency
has viclated this chapter. The costs and fees shall be paid by the
local agency and shall not become a personal liability of any public
officer or ewmployee of the local agency.

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to a
defendant in any action brought pursuant to Secticn 54960 or 54960.1
where the defendant hasg prevalled in a final determination cof such
action and the court finds that the action was clearly frivolous and
totally lacking in merit. '

54961, {a) No legislative body of a local agency shall conduct any
meeting in any facility that prohibits the admittance of any person,
or personsg, on the basis of race, religious creed, color, national
origin, ancestry, or sex, or which is inaccessible to disabled
parsons, or where members of the public may not be present without
making a payment or purchase. This section shall apply to every
local agency as defined in Section.54851.

{b) No notice, agenda, announcement, or report reguired under this
chapter need identify any victim or alleged victim of tortious
sexual conduct or child abuse unlessg the ildentity of the person has
been publicly disclosed.

54862. Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, or by
Sections 1461, 1462, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code,
or by Sections 37606, 37606.1, and 37624.3 of the Government Cocde as
they apply to hospitals, or by any provision of the Education Code
pertaining to school districts and community college districts, no

~cloged session wmay be held by any legislative body of any local

agency.

54963. {a) A person may not disclose confidential information that
has been acguired by being present in a closed session authorized by
Section B54956.7, B4956.8, 54956.86, 54956.87, 54956.9, 54957,
54957.6, 54957.8, or 54957.10 to a person not entitled to receive it,
uniess the legislative body authorizes disclosure of that
confidential information.

(b} FPor purposes of this section, "confidential information" means
a communication made in & ciosed session that is sgpecifically
related to the basis for the legislative body ¢f a local agency to
meet lawfully in closed session under this chapter.

(¢} Violation of this section may be addressed by the use of such
remedies as are currently available by law, including, but not
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limited to:

{1} Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential
information prohibited by this section.

{2) Disciplinary action against an employee who has wiilfully
disclosed confidential information in viclation of this section.

{3} Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully
disclozed confidential information in violation of this section to
the grandjury. '

{d) Pisciplinary action pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision
{¢} shall regquire that the emplovee in cquestion has either received
training as to the reguirements of this section or otherwise has been
given notice of the reguirements of thisg gection.

(e} & local agency may not take any action authorized by
gsubdivision (¢) against a person, nor shall it be deesmed a violaticen
of this section, for doing any of the following:

(1} Making a2 confidential ingquiry or complaint to a district
attorney or grand jury concerning a percelived violation of law,
including disclosing facts to a digtrict attorney or grand jury that
are necesasary to establish the illegality of an action taken by a
legislative body of a local agency or the potential illegality of an
action that has been the subject of deliberaticn at a closed session
1f that action were to be taken by a legislative beody of a local
agency. '

(2} Expressing an opinion copncerning the propriety or legality of
actions taken by a legislative body of a local agency in closed
gegsion, including disclosure of the nature and extent of the illegal

-or potentially illegal action.

(3} Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed
sesgion under this chapter that is not confidential information.

(£} Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit
disclogures under the whistleblower statutes contained in Section
1102.5 of the Labor Code or Article 4.5 (commencing with Section
53296) of Chapter 2 of this code.
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